

Forest Products

Annual Market Review 2020-2021



List of online
references

REFERENCES

- Agency for Statistics of Bosnia and Herzegovina. 2021. Available at: www.bhas.ba/?lang=en
- Aguilar, F.X., Mirzaee, A., McGarvey, R., Shifley, S. & Burtraw, D. 2020. Expansion of US wood pellet industry points to positive trends but the need for continued monitoring. *Scientific Reports*, 10: 18607. <https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-75403-z>
- APA (The Engineered Wood Association). 2021a. Structural panel and engineered wood yearbook. APA Economics Report E186. Available at: www.apawood.org
- APA (The Engineered Wood Association). 2021b. Market outlook and regional production. Economic report. Available at: www.apawood.org
- Beck Group. 2018. Mass timber market analysis. Completed for Council of Western State Foresters. November. Beck Group. Available at: www.oregon.gov/ODF/Documents/ForestBenefits/Beck-mass-timber-market-analysis-report.pdf
- Beck Group. 2020. North American mass timber (2020 state of the industry). Available at: www.masstimmerreport.com
- Beck Group. 2021. North American mass timber (2021 state of the industry). Available at: www.masstimmerreport.com
- Bioenergy Europe. 2020. Statistical report 2020. Available at: <https://bioenergyeurope.org/statistical-report.html>
- BIS (Bank of International Settlements). 2021. BIS real residential property price statistics, Q4 2020. Available at: www.bis.org/statistics/pp_residential_2105.htm
- Blokhina, A.A., Sternika, S.G. & Telesheva, G.V. 2021. Institutional transformations of Russia's housing construction sector in 2020. Available at: <https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1134/S1075700721020039.pdf>
- BMO (Bank of Montreal). 2021. Canadian economic outlook. Available at: <https://economics.bmocapitalmarkets.com/economics/forecast/ca/cdamodel.pdf>
- Brandt, K., Latta, G., Camenzind, D., Dolan, J., Bender, D., Wilson, A. & Wolcott, M. 2021. Projected cross-laminated timber demand and lumber supply analysis. *BioResources*, 16(1): 862-881. Available at: <https://bioresources.cnr.ncsu.edu/resources/projected-cross-laminated-timber-demand-and-lumber-supply-analysis>
- Canadian Biomass. 2021. Pellet map 2021. Available at: www.canadianbiomassmagazine.ca/canadian-biomass-pellet-mill-map
- Catanoso, J. 2021. Dutch to limit forest biomass subsidies, possibly signalling EU sea change. *Mongabay*. Available at: <https://news.mongabay.com/2021/03/dutch-to-limit-forest-biomass-subsidies-possibly-signaling-eu-sea-change>
- CEPI (Confederation of European Paper Industries). 2021. Available at: www.cepi.org
- China Customs Bureau. 2021. Available at: <http://43.248.49.97/indexEn>
- China Paper Association. 2021. Available at: <http://enchinappi.org>
- CMHC (Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation). 2021. Housing market outlook. Available at: www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/en/data-and-research/publications-and-reports/preliminary-housing-start-data
- Cowie, A., Berndes, G., Bentsen, N.S., Brandão, M., Cherubini, F., Egnell, G., et al. 2021. Applying a science-based systems perspective to dispel misconceptions about climate effects of forest bioenergy.

GCB-Bioenergy. <https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12844>

CPA (Composite Panel Association). 2021a. 2020 North American capacity report. Available at: www.compositepanel.org

CPA (Composite Panel Association). 2021b. Industry snapshot. Available at: www.compositepanel.org

CREA (Canadian Real Estate Association). 2021. Quarterly forecasts. Available at: www.crea.ca/housing-market-stats/quarterly-forecasts

Croatian Bureau of Statistics. 2021. Available at: www.dzs.hr/defaulte.htm

CRS (Congressional Research Service). 2021. COVID-19 and the U.S. timber industry. Updated July 29, 2021. Available at: <https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R46636>

CSIL (Centre for Industrial Studies) Milano. 2021. The European market for office furniture. 33rd edition. Milan, Italy.

ECB (European Central Bank). 2021. Economic Bulletin, Issue 4, 2021. Available at: www.ecb.europa.eu/pub/economic-bulletin/html/eb202104.en.html

ECCC (Environment and Climate Change Canada). 2018. Clean Fuel Standard regulatory design paper. Ottawa, Canada.

EIA (US Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration). 2021a. Total energy. Annual energy review. Available at: www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/annual

EIA (US Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration). 2021b. Monthly densified biomass fuel report (EIA 63C). Available at: www.eia.gov/biofuels/biomass

ENplus. 2021. ENplus® to certify more than 14 million tonnes of pellets in 2021. Available at: www.enplus-pellets.eu/en-in/news-events/latest-news/451-enplus®-to-certify-more-than-14-million-tonnes-of-pellets-in-2021.html

EPF (European Panel Federation). 2021. European Panel Federation annual report 2020-2021.

EU (European Union). 2011. Regulation (EU) No 305/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 9 March 2011 laying down harmonised conditions for the marketing of construction products and repealing Council Directive 89/106/EEC Text with EEA relevance. Available at: <https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32011R0305>

EU (European Union). 2018. Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast). Official Journal of the EU L 328/82 of 21/12/2018. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=uriserv%3AOJ.L_2018.328.01.0082.01.ENG&toc=OJ%3AL%3A2018%3A328%3AFULL

EU (European Union). 2019. A European green deal. Document COM (2019) 640 Final. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/european-green-deal_en

EU (European Union). 2020a. Council Regulation (EU) 2020/2094 of 14 December 2020 establishing a European Union recovery instrument to support the recovery in the aftermath of the COVID-19 crisis. Available at: <https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32020R2094&from=EN>

EU (European Union). 2020b. A renovation wave for Europe – greening our buildings, creating jobs, improving lives. Documents. COM (2020) 662 final, SWD (2020) 550 final. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_20_1835

EU (European Union). 2020c. EU biodiversity strategy for 2030. Bringing nature back into our lives. COM (2020)380. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/communication-annex-eu-biodiversity-strategy-2030_en.pdf

EU (European Union). 2021a. Shaping more beautiful, sustainable and inclusive forms of living together. #neweuropeanbauhaus. Available at: https://europa.eu/new-european-bauhaus/index_en

EU (European Union). 2021b. Updating the 2020 new industrial strategy: building a stronger single market for Europe's recovery. COM (2021) 350 final. Available at:

https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/communication-industrial-strategy-update-2020_en.pdf

EU (European Union). 2021c. New EU forest strategy for 2030. COM (2021) 572. SWDs (2021) 651 & 652. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/environment/strategy/forest-strategy_en#ecl-inpage-1128

Euroconstruct. 2004. 57th Euroconstruct conference: the outlook for the European construction sector 2004-2006. June. Stockholm, Sweden. Euroconstruct.

Euroconstruct. 2021. 91st Euroconstruct country report, summer 2021. 91st Euroconstruct Conference. June. Vienna.

Eurostat. 2020. Wood products – production and trade. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Wood_products_-_production_and_trade#Wood-based_industries

Eurostat. 2021. Database. European Commission. Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database>

FAOSTAT. 2021. Forest data. Available at: www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FO

Flach, B. 2021. Netherlands: Dutch wood pellet imports reach new high. US Foreign Agricultural Service NL2021-0013. Available at: www.fas.usda.gov/data/netherlands-dutch-wood-pellet-imports-reach-new-high

Forest Business Network. 2020. Available at: www.masstimmerreport.com

FPAC (Forest Products Association of Canada). 2021. Canada's forest sector welcomes Canada-US collaboration on green and resilient infrastructure. 22 April 2021. Available at: www.fpac.ca/posts/canadas-forest-sector-welcomes-canada-us-collaboration-on-green-and-resilient-infrastructure

FRED. 2021a. Residential property prices for Russian Federation. Available at: <https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/QRUN628BIS>

FRED. 2021b. Housing supply: a growing deficit. Available at: www.freddiemac.com/research/insight/20210507_housing_supply.page

FSC (Forest Stewardship Council). 2020. Facts and figures. Available at: <https://fsc.org/en/facts-figures>

Gerrity, M. 2021. Much of the world's housing market in a price bubble in 2021. Available at: www.worldpropertyjournal.com/real-estate-news/turkey/istanbul-real-estate-news/real-estate-news-knight-frank-2021-global-house-price-index-worldwide-home-price-data-for-2021-rising-home-prices-worldwide-global-12612.php

Giuntoli, J. 2020. Forest bioenergy and Canada's 'Clean Fuels Standard'. International Council on Clean Transportation. Available at: <https://theicct.org/sites/default/files/publications/Canada-CFS-consultant-nov2020.pdf>

Global Affairs Canada. 2021. Softwood lumber dispute. Available at: www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/softwood-bois_oeuvre/index.aspx?lang=eng

Grassi, G., Fiorese, G., Pilli, R., Jonsson, K., Blujdea, V., Korosuo, A. & Vizzarri, M. 2021. Brief on the role of the forest-based bioeconomy in mitigating climate change through carbon storage and material substitution. J. Sanchez Lopez, G. Jasinevičius & M. Avraamides, eds. European Commission, 2021, JRC124374. Available at: <https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC124374>

Hardwood Market Report. 2021. Various issues, 2004–2021. Available at: www.hmr.com

Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies. 2021a. LIRA. Available at: www.jchs.harvard.edu/research-areas/remodeling/lira

Harvard Joint Center for Housing Studies. 2021b. Remodeling Futures Program at the Joint Center for Housing Studies. Available at: www.jchs.harvard.edu/press-releases/remodeling-upturn-carry-2022

Hodgson, C. 2021. The EU's biomass dilemma: can burning trees ever be green? Financial Times, 1 July. Available at: www.ft.com/content/c3b00115-562e-4d06-bd11-f46a3f9366b1

Hogue, R. 2021. Canada's housing market slowed down in June but still strong. Available at: <https://thoughtleadership.rbc.com/canadas-housing-market-slowed-down-in-june-but-still-strong>

Holzkurier. 2021. Die größten BSP-Produzenten in Mitteleuropa. Available at: www.holzkurier.com/blog/groessten-bsp-produzenten.html

Ibá. 2021. Associação Brasileira de Celulose e Papel (Ibá). Available at: www.iba.org/pt/dados-e-estatisticas/cenarios-iba

IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2021. International Monetary Fund data exchange rates. Available at: <https://data.imf.org/?sk=388DFA60-1D26-4ADE-B505-A05A558D9A42>

Infor (Chilean Customs data). 2021. Available at: www.infor.cl

Institute for Statistics of Albania. 2021. Available at: www.instat.gov.al/en

ITTO (International Tropical Timber Organization). 2020. Tropical Timber Market Report, 1-31 December 2020. Yokohama, Japan.

ITTO (International Tropical Timber Organization). 2021a. Biennial review and assessment of the tropical timber market situation 2019-2020. Yokohama, Japan.

ITTO (International Tropical Timber Organization). 2021b. Tropical Timber Market Report, 1-15 April 2021. Yokohama, Japan.

Katerra. 2020. Company's CLT manufacturing facility has capacity to produce 185,000 cubic meters annually, the largest in North America. Available at: <https://katerra.com/2020/08/04/katerra-emerges-as-north-americas-only-end-to-end-mass-timber-design-manufacturing-and-construction-firm>

Ledinek. 2021a. CLT production plant for UHLK in the Ukraine. Available at: www.ledinek.com/clt-production-line-in-ukraine

Ledinek. 2021b. Segezha Group launched Russia's first industrial production line for CLT panels. Available at: www.ledinek.com/segezha-group-launched-russias-first-industrial-production-line-for-clt-panels

Lesprom. 2021. Russia increases green lumber duties from July 1, 2021. Available at: www.lesprom.com/de/news/Russia_increases_green_lumber_duties_from_July_1_2021_98887

Lombard. 2021. Rapport Cyclope. 2021. Paper for Recycling. The pandemic has severely disrupted the dynamics of paper for recycling supply and demand in 2020. Available at: <https://cercle-cyclope.com/produit/rapport-cyclope-2021>

Lossan, A. 2021. How the pandemic has affected the Russian housing market – explainer. 2021. Russia Beyond. Available at: www.rbth.com/business/333544-pandemic-russian-housing-market

Luppold, W.G. & Bumgardner, M. 2016. US hardwood lumber consumption and international trade from 1991 to 2014. Wood and Fiber Science, 48(3): 162-170. Available at: www.nrs.fs.fed.us/pubs/52323

MBA (Mortgage Bankers Association). 2021. MBA mortgage finance forecast. June. Available at: www.mba.org

Metropolitan Policy Program. 2021. Pandemic population change across metro America: accelerated migration, less immigration, fewer births and more deaths. Available at: www.brookings.edu/research/pandemic-population-change-across-metro-america-accelerated-migration-less-immigration-fewer-births-and-more-deaths

Ministry of Finance of Japan. 2021. Trade statistics of Japan. Available at: www.customs.go.jp

Ministry of the National Economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan Committee on Statistics. 2021. About housing stock Republic of Kazakhstan. Available at: <http://stat.gov.kz>

Murray, G. 2019. Proposed CFS regulations overlook solid biofuels: WPAC. Canadian Biomass Magazine, 26 August. Available at: www.canadianbiomassmagazine.ca/proposed-cfs-regulations-discriminate-against-solid-biofuels-wpac

National Bureau of Statistics of the Republic of Moldova. 2021. Statistical yearbook of the Republic of Moldova. Available at: <http://statistica.gov.md>

National Statistical Committee of the Kyrgyz Republic. 2021. Kyrgyzstan brief statistical handbook 2017-2020. Available at: www.stat.kg/media/publicationarchive/235688f3-b431-4671-86b0-ec5c4f4c82e6.doc

National Statistical Committee of the Republic of Belarus. 2021. Housing stock. Available at: www.belstat.gov.by/en/ofitsialnaya-statistika/Demographic-and-social-statistics

NCSL (National Conference of State Legislatures). 2021. COVID-19 Economic Relief Bill, 2020. Available at: www.ncsl.org/ncsl-in-dc/publications-and-resources/fy-2021-omnibus-appropriations-bill.aspx

Nowak, D.J., Greenfield, E.J. & Ash, R.M. 2019. Annual biomass loss and potential value of urban tree waste in the United States. *Urban Forestry & Urban Greening*, 46: 126469. <https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2019.126469>

PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification). 2018. PEFC annual review 2018. Available at: <https://storage.googleapis.com/pefc-platform/pefc.org/media/2019-04/d720635e-4297-4da4-a894-6ecede29871f/bfbeb3b6-8a49-5088-a665-33d7a1bc7d01.pdf>

PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification). 2020. PEFC global statistics. December 2020. Available at: <https://cdn.pefc.org/pefc.org/media/2021-03/9e7f677f-8ecc-468d-b11b-67c64492f07e/03b7f21f-89e1-54be-a574-093d930f1416.pdf>

PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification). 2021a. Press release with FSC. Double certification FSC and PEFC – 2020 estimation. January 2021. Available at: <https://cdn.pefc.org/pefc.org/media/2021-03/b402c56b-78b2-496b-91ae-76f0008473b8/404e3c25-9e81-5d4c-a9d0-28bd3ee42478.pdf>

PEFC (Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification). 2021b. Public consultations. Accessed 6 July 2021. Available at: <https://pefc.org/standards-implementation/meeting-global-expectations/public-consultations>

People's Republic of China, Ministry of Ecology and Environment. 2020. Available at: <https://english.mee.gov.cn>

Popkin, G. 2021. There's a booming business in America's forests. Some aren't happy about it. *New York Times*, 19 April. Available at: www.nytimes.com/2021/04/19/climate/wood-pellet-industry-climate.html

PwC. 2020. Emerging trends in real estate®: climate of change. Europe 2020. Available at: www.pwc.com/sk/sk/assets/PDFs/pwc-emerging-trends-real-estate-europe-2020.pdf

PwC. 2021. Emerging trends in real estate®: the global outlook for 2021. Available at: www.pwc.com/gx/en/industries/financial-services/asset-management/emerging-trends-real-estate/global-outlook-2021.html

Random Lengths. 2021a. Random Lengths weekly report. Available at: www.randomlengths.com

Random Lengths. 2021b. Random Lengths yearbook 2020. Available at: www.randomlengths.com

RAO Bumprom. 2021. Russian Association of Organizations and Enterprises of the Pulp and Paper Industry. Available at: <https://bumprom.ru>

RBC (Royal Bank of Canada). 2021. Quarterly economic update. Available at: www.rbc.com/economics/economic-reports/pdf

Russian Timber Industry. 2020. Russia reduced furniture imports by 6.8% in 2020 (15.12.2020). Available at: <https://programlesprom.ru/en/russia-reduced-furniture-imports-by-6-8-in-2020>

Russ Taylor Global. 2021. Proprietary database. Available at: www.russtaylorglobal.com

Scotia Bank. 2021. Global real estate trends. Available at: www.scotiabank.com

SFI (Sustainable Forestry Initiative). 2021. SFI urban and community forest sustainability standard. Available at: www.forests.org/sfi-urban-and-community-forest-sustainability-standard

State Committee of the Republic of Uzbekistan on Statistics. 2018. Investments and construction activities. Available at: <https://stat.uz>

State Statistical Committee of the Republic of Azerbaijan. 2021. Construction. Available at: www.stat.gov.az/menu/6/statistical_yearbooks/source/azfigures_2021.zip

State Statistics Service of Ukraine. 2021. Construction and income and living conditions. Available at: <https://ukrstat.org/uk>

Statistical Committee of the Republic of Armenia. 2021. Construction. Available at: www.armstat.am/file/doc/99520948.pdf

Statistical Office of Montenegro. 2021. Available at: www.monstat.org/eng

Statistical Office of the Republic of North Macedonia. 2021. Available at www.stat.gov.mk/Default_en.aspx

Statistical Office of the Republic of Serbia. 2021. Available at: www.stat.gov.rs/en-US

Statistical Office of the Republic of Slovenia. 2021. Available at: www.stat.si/StatWeb/en

Statistics Canada. 2021a. Canadian international merchandise trade database. Available at: www5.statcan.gc.ca/cimt-cicm

Statistics Canada. 2021b. Table 25-10-0031-01 – Consumption of solid wood waste and spent pulping liquor for energy production, annual. Available at: <https://doi.org/10.25318/2510003101-eng>

Statistics Sweden. 2021. Monthly electricity statistics, including switches of electricity supplier. Available at: www.scb.se/en/finding-statistics/statistics-by-subject-area/energy/energy-supply-and-use/monthly-electricity-statistics-including-switches-of-electricity-supplier

Svebio. 2020. Ny biokraftkarta med 242 biokraftvärmeverk i Sverige. Available at: www.svebio.se/press/nyheter/ny-biokraftkarta-med-242-biokraftvarmeverk-sverige

Svenskt Trä. 2021. Press release. Available at: <https://via.tt.se/pressmeddelande/svenska-sagverk-slar-produktionsrekord?publisherId=2241425&releaseId=3300280>

Swedish Energy Agency. 2020. Comprehensive assessment of the potential for heating and cooling. [Heltäckande bedömning av potentialen för uppvärmning och kylning]. Underlag för rapportering enligt art. 14.1 i energieffektiviseringsdirektivet (2012/27/EU). 128 pp.

Swedish Energy Agency. 2021. Effekterna på energiförsörjningen. Available at: www.energimyndigheten.se/om-oss/energimyndigheten-och-coronaviruset/aktuell-tillgang-pa-energi

Swedish Forest Agency. 2020. Millions of spruce trees were killed by the spruce bark beetle in 2020. Available at: www.skogsstyrelsen.se/nyhetslista/miljontals-granar-dodades-av-granbarkborren-2020

TAJSTAT. 2021. Housing facilities, 1998-2017. Agency on Statistics Under the President of the Republic of Tajikistan. Available at: <http://stat.wv.tj/publications>

TD Bank. 2021. Long-term forecast. Available at: <https://economics.td.com/us-long-term-forecast>

The White House. 2021. Briefing room, fact sheet: President Biden Sets 2030 greenhouse gas pollution reduction target. 22 April 2021. Available at: www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2021/04/22/fact-sheet-president-biden-sets-2030-greenhouse-gas-pollution-reduction-target-aimed-at-creating-good-paying-union-jobs-and-securing-u-s-leadership-on-clean-energy-technologies

Timber online. 2021a. Available at: www.timber-online.net/sawn_timber/2021/06/7--increase-in-softwood-lumber-production.html

Timber online. 2021b. Over 3 million m³ for the first time – record years for glulam. Survey on glulam production 2020/2021. Available at: www.timber-online.net/wood_products/2021/05/over-3-million-m—for-the-first-time---record-years-for-glulam.html

Timber online. 2021c. Companies are investing more. Will fiber insulation boards replace cross-laminated timber as the sector's wunderkind. Available at: www.timber-

online.net/sawn_timber/2021/04/companies-are-investing-more.html

UN Comtrade. 2021. UN Comtrade database. Available at: <https://comtrade.un.org/db>

UNECE/FAO database. 2021. Available at: www.unece.org/forests/fpm/onlinedata.html

UNECE/FAO. 2020. Forest products annual market review 2019-2020. Available at: <http://unece.org/forests/fpamr2020>

UNECE/FAO. 2021a. COVID-19 impacts on the forest sector in countries in Eastern Europe, Caucasus and Central Asia. Available at: <https://unece.org/publications/forests>

UNECE/FAO. 2021b. Draft catalogue of wood waste classifications in the UNECE region. 5 March 2021. Available at: <https://unece.org/forestry-timber/documents/2021/03/informal-documents/draft-catalogue-wood-waste-classifications>

US BLS (United States Bureau of Labor Statistics). 2021a. Producer prices for lumber up 89.7 percent for the year ended April 2021. May 2021. Available at: www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2021/producer-prices-for-lumber-up-89-7-percent-for-the-year-ended-april-2021.htm

US BLS (United States Bureau of Labor Statistics). 2021b. Databases, tables & calculators by subject, prices-producer, commodity data. Available at: www.bls.gov/data

US Census Bureau. 2021a. New residential construction. Available at: www.census.gov/construction/nrc/index

US Census Bureau. 2021b. Available at: www.census.gov/construction/nrs/pdf/newressales.pdf

US Census Bureau. 2021c. International trade (annual 2005-present, monthly 2013-present). Available at: www.census.gov/data/developers/data-sets/international-trade.html

US DOC (United States Department of Commerce). 2020. Softwood lumber subsidies report to the Congress. June 2020. Available at: <https://enforcement.trade.gov/sla2008/reports/Softwood-Lumber-Subsidies-Report-2020-06-25.pdf>

US Federal Register. 2020. Implementation of revised Lacey Act provisions. www.federalregister.gov/documents/2020/03/31/2020-06695/implementation-of-revised-lacey-act-provisions

US Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. 2020. Industrial production, total index. Available at: <https://fred.stlouisfed.org/series/INDPRO>

USDA (United States Department of Agriculture). 2020. APHIS will delay implementation of phase six of the Lacey Act enforcement schedule. 4 August 2020. Available at: www.aphis.usda.gov/aphis/newsroom/stakeholder-info/stakeholder-messages/plant-health-news/six-phases-la-delay

USDA (United States Department of Agriculture). 2021. Foreign Agricultural Service. Global agricultural trade system. <https://apps.fas.usda.gov/gats/default.aspx>

USFS (United States Forest Service). 2020a. Forest Service NEPA procedures and guidance. Available at: www.fs.fed.us/emc/nepa/nepa_procedures/index.shtml

USFS (United States Forest Service). 2020b. Forest Service NEPA regulations (36 CFR 220) comparison between existing regulations (2008), proposed rule (2019), and final rule (2020). 18 November 2020. Available at: www.fs.fed.us/emc/nepa/documents/TableComparingChanges20201118.pdf

WCO (World Customs Organization). 2019. Amendments to the nomenclature appended as an annex to the convention accepted pursuant to the recommendation of 28 June 2019 of the customs co-operation council. Available at: www.wcoomd.org/-/media/wco/public/global/pdf/topics/nomenclature/instruments-and-tools/hs-nomenclature-2022/ng0262b1.pdf?db=web

WhatWood. 2020a. Timber industry research and statistics. VTK Invest to launch the production of biofuel. Available at: <https://whatwood.ru>

WhatWood. 2020b. Russian Timber Journal 12-2020. Available at:

<https://whatwood.ru/english/tovary/russian-timber-journal>

WhatWood, 2021a. The Russian government approved the list of backbone enterprises of the timber industry and measures to support. Available at: <https://whatwood.ru/pravitelstvo-rf-utverdilo-spisok-sistemoobrazuyushih-predpriyatij-lpk-i-meryi-ih-podderzhki/>

WhatWood. 2021b. Russian Timber Journal 04-2020. Available at: <http://whatwood.ru/english/russian-timber-journal-04-2020>

WhatWood. 2021 c. Russian Timber Journal 05-2020. Available at: <http://whatwood.ru/english/russian-timber-journal-05-2020>

WhatWood. 2021 d. Russian forest industry review 2019-2020. Available at: www.whatwood.ru

WhatWood. 2021 e. Russian forest industry review 2020-2021. Available at: www.whatwood.ru

WhatWood. 2021 f. Monthly price report. Wood-based panels market in Russia 04-2021. Available at: <http://whatwood.ru>

WhatWood. 2021 g. Timber industry research and statistics. Available at: <https://whatwood.ru>

Wood Resources International. 2021. Wood Resource Quarterly. Available at: www.WoodPrices.com

Wood Resources International & O'Kelly Acumen. 2021. Russian log export ban in 2022 – implications for the global forest industry. Available at: www.WoodPrices.com

Woodstat AB. 2021. Woodstat Market News, various issues. Available at: www.woodstat.com

Yle (Finland Public Radio). 2021. Ministry unveils plan to phase out peat burning in Finland. Available at:

https://yle.fi/uutiset/osasto/news/ministry_unveils_plan_to_phase_out_peat_burning_in_finland/118647

